
 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Agenda 

Monday, 9 January 2023 6.00 p.m. 
Council Chamber, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 
Crescent, London, E14 2BG 

Members: 

Chair: Councillor Musthak Ahmed 

Vice Chair: Councillor Abdul Mannan 

 
Councillor Maisha Begum, Councillor Bodrul Choudhury, Councillor Marc Francis, 
Councillor Asma Islam, Councillor Ahmodur Khan, Councillor Sabina Khan and 
Councillor Abdul Malik 

Co-opted Members:  
Jahid Ahmed and Halima Islam 

Deputies: Councillor Faroque Ahmed, Councillor Mohammad Chowdhury, Councillor 

Saif Uddin Khaled, Councillor Kamrul Hussain, Councillor Abdul Wahid and Councillor 
Leelu Ahmed 

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members] 

Contact for further enquiries:  

Thomas French, Democratic Services, 

Thomas.French@towerhamlets.gov.uk 

020 7364 4549  

1st Floor, Town Hall, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG  

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 

 



 

 

 
Public Information  
 
Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings 
 
The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is 
detailed below. The press and public are encouraged to watch this meeting on line.  
 
Please note: Whilst the meeting is open to the public, the public seating in the meeting 
room for observers may be limited due to health and safety measures. You are advised 
to contact the Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place. 

 
Meeting Webcast 
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system. 
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 

Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our 
website from day of publication.   

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for the relevant 
committee and meeting date.  

Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android apps 

Scan this QR code to view the electronic agenda  

 

http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 

 

 

A Guide to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

The Local Government Act 2000 established the overview and scrutiny function for 
every council, with the key roles of:  
  

 Scrutinising decisions before or after they are made or implemented 

 Proposing new policies and commenting on draft policies, and 

 Ensuring customer satisfaction and value for money. 
  
The aim is to make the decision-making process more transparent, accountable and 
inclusive, and improve services for people by being responsive to their needs. Overview 
& Scrutiny membership is required to reflect the proportional political makeup of the 
council and, as well as council services, there are statutory powers to examine the 
impact of work undertaken by partnerships and outside bodies, including the Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Partnership and local health bodies. 
  
In Tower Hamlets, the function is exercised by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
(OSC). The OSC considers issues from across the council and partnership remit. The 
Committee has 3 Sub-Committees which focus on health, housing and grants. 
  
Public Engagement 
 
OSC usually meets once per month (a few days before Cabinet, to allow scrutiny of 
decisions scheduled to be made there). These meetings are open to the public 
to attend, and a timetable for meeting dates and deadlines can be found here. The 
committee’s quorum is three voting members. 
  

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=314
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=773
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=768
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgAgendaManagementTimetable.aspx?RP=327


 

 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

 
Monday, 9 January 2023 

 
6.00 p.m. 

 

SECTION ONE 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST AND 
OTHER INTERESTS (PAGES 7 - 8) 

 

Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest in the Code of Conduct for 
Members to determine whether they have an interest in any agenda item and any 
action they should take. For further details, please see the attached note from the 
Monitoring Officer.  
 
Members are reminded to declare the nature of the interest and the agenda item it 
relates to. Please note that ultimately it’s the Members’ responsibility to declare any 
interests form and to update their register of interest form as required by the Code.  
 
If in doubt as to the nature of your interest, you are advised to seek advice prior to the 
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services  
 

3. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS 'CALLED IN' 

3 .1 Call in of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital Programme: Latest 
position (Pages 9 - 24) 
 
To consider a call in on the  Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital 
Programme: Latest position decision made by Cabinet on 30 November 2022. 
 
 
 

4. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

In view of the contents of the remaining items on the agenda the Committee is 
recommended to adopt the following motion: 



 
 

 

 

“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press and 
public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting for the consideration of the 
Section Two business on the grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 1972.” 
 

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (Pink Papers) 
 

The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain information, which is 
commercially, legally or personally sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If 
you do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, please hand them to the 
Committee Officer present. 

 
Next Meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Monday, 9 January 2023 at 7.00 p.m. to be held in Council Chamber, Mulberry Place, 
5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG 



This page is intentionally left blank



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for 

Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution  

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 

You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in 

Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests; 

(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as 

husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to 

be considered.  Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence. 

Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the 

decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public 

gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address 

the Committee.  

DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a 

request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive. 

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered – 

(Non - DPIs) 

You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts 

or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to 

bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose 

or aimed at influencing public opinion. 

Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate 
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:  
 

 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair your judgement of the public interest.  If so, you must withdraw and take no part 
in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest. 
 

Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the 
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in 
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In such 
matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding Non DPI 
- interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph. 
 

Guidance on Predetermination and Bias  
 

Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to 
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes 
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of 
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.  
 

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict 
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting  
 

In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the 
matter.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



Further Advice contact: Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer, 
Tel: 0207 364 4800. 
 

APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of the Member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
 

Page 8



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 January 2023 

 
Report of Janet Fasan Divisional Director Legal and 
Monitoring Officer 
 

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Call in - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital Programme: Latest 
position 

 

Originating Officer(s) Joel West, Democratic Services Team Leader 
(Committee) 
 

Wards affected All 
 

 
CONSIDERATION OF THE CALL IN 
 
A call in request has been received on the decision of Cabinet, 30 November 2022 
on Item 6.4 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital Programme: Latest 
position.  
 
In accordance with the Council’s call in procedure rules, the matter is referred to the 
OSC for its consideration and to decide whether to refer the matter back to Cabinet 
for further consideration.  The following procedure is to be followed by the 
Committee for consideration of the Call In: 
 

i. Chair to invite a call-in member to present call-in. 

ii. Chair to invite members of the Committee to ask question. 

iii. Chair to Invite Cabinet Member to respond to the call-in. 

iv. Chair to invite members of the Committee to ask questions. 

v. Followed by a general debate. 

 
It is open to the OSC to either resolve to take no action (which would have the effect 
of endorsing the original Cabinet decisions), or to refer the matter back to the 
Cabinet for further consideration setting out the nature of its concerns and possibly 
recommending an alternative course of action. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3.1



RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) considers: 
 
1. The contents of the attached report, review the Cabinet’s decision 

(provisional, subject to call in) arising; and  
 
2. Decide whether to accept the decision or to refer the matter back to the 

Cabinet with proposals and reasons. 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
On 30 November 2022, the Mayor in Cabinet considered a report on Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital Programme: Latest position.  
 
As a result of discussions on the report it was RESOLVED:  
 

1. To approve the budget allocations for new schemes being added to the 
programme as substitutes for previously approved schemes which are being 
removed, subject to sign off through the capital governance process and 
agreement to proceed given by the Corporate Director, Place in consultation 
with the Mayor and the Corporate Director, Resources. 

 
2. To approve the addition of Buckhurst Street, Smithy Street, Candy Street, 

housing on the St Georges Leisure Centre site, the purchase of 9 completed 
homes at Royal Mint Street, the conversion of Albert Jacob House to be 
funded by the removal of the Ashington House scheme and unallocated grant 
and s106, subject to sign off through the capital governance process and 
agreement to proceed given by the Corporate Director of Place in consultation 
with the Mayor and Corporate Director, Resources. 

 
3. To approve the removal of the housing companies from the capital 

programme. 
 

4. To approve the virement of £2.098m from the THH capital works budget of 
£90.200m for essential works at Watney Market car park 

 
5. To approve delegated authority to the Corporate Director, Place, in 

consultation with the Mayor and the Corporate Director, Resources, to 
substitute schemes within the Approved HRA Capital Programme. 

 
6. To note that schemes funded by future capital receipts (RTB receipts) and/or 

s106 contributions will not go ahead until such funds have been received by 
the Council. 

 
7. To approve delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Place in 

consultation with the Mayor and the Corporate Director of Resources for all 
activities required to deliver the approved capital programme, for example but 
not exclusively, go out to tender, appoint consultants and contractors in 

Page 10



accordance with the Procurement Procedures, acquire land interests, 
appropriate land from the General Fund to the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) for the delivery of new council homes and other rights of appropriation, 
subject to approved budget. 

 
8. To note the Equalities Impact Assessment and specific equalities 

considerations as set out in Section 4 of the report. 
 
The decisions above have been Called-In by Councillors Sirajul Islam, Amina Ali, 
Amy Lee, James King, Rachel Blake and Leelu Ahmed. This is in accordance with 
the provisions of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 
In accordance with the OSC Protocols and Guidance adopted by the Committee at 
its meeting on 4th June 2013, any Member(s) who present(s) the “Call In” is (are) not 
eligible to participate in the general debate. 
 
REASONS FOR THE CALL IN 
 
The call in requisition from the Councillors noted above has provided reason(s) for 
the call-in. The reason(s) are replicated below: 
 

‘The report to the Mayor in Cabinet states that “The Ashington House 
scheme has progressed more slowly than anticipated and no longer 
requires a capital allocation” and concludes that it is “recommended to 
remove the Ashington House scheme from the HRA capital programme”. 

 
In response to a Pre-Decision Question put to the Mayor in Cabinet, 
officers stated that “The Ashington House scheme has progressed more 
slowly than expected and is still at the feasibility stage. By removing it 
from the programme at this time, funding is freed up to allocate to 
schemes which are further forward. Once the 30-year HRA Business 
Plan has been updated, the HRA capital programme will be refreshed for 
2023-2026. Subject to funding being available in future years, the 
Ashington scheme may be put back into the programme. 
  
We acknowledge that the scheme at Ashington House has progressed 
slowly, but we are not persuaded it should now be dropped from the HRA 
Capital Programme with the reason being provided that the funds will be 
used for the conversion of Albert Jacob House.  The Ashington House 
project has the potential to deliver 79 new council homes that are 
desperately needed by Tower Hamlets’s homeless and overcrowded 
families.    
  
This report also seeks authorisation to allocate £2.098 million from the 
HRA Capital Programme to the renovation of the car park at Watney 
Market.  While we recognise the value of investing in making this car 
park more readily available to shoppers, we are not persuaded this sum 
should be removed from the budget for urgently needed repairs and 

Page 11



improvements within tenant’s homes and across our remaining council 
estates.’ 

 
ALTERNATIVE COURSE OF ACTION PROPOSED 
 
The call-in requisition from the Councillors noted above has provided a proposed 
alternative course of action. The proposed alternative course of action is replicated 
below: 
 

‘The Mayor agree to retain the Ashington House scheme within the 
current three year HRA Capital Programme and publish a copy of the 
latest feasibility study for the project. 
 
The Mayor should also publish the feasibility study for the welcome plans 
to redevelop Albert Jacob House for new council housing and start 
working on a plan for the similar redevelopment of John Onslow House in 
Bow. 
 
Given its positive contribution to the wider local economy and community 
rather than directly to council tenants, the Mayor should substitute the 
use of HRA monies for the Watney Market car park for capital reserves 
from the General Fund. 

 
As £2.098 million will be coming out the HRA, this means leaseholders 
will be recharged for these works. We feel leaseholders should not be 
recharged if this car park is for the benefit of wider public.’  

 
____________________________________ 

 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 None 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 - Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital Programme: 
Latest position. Cabinet, 30 November 2022. 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) List of “Background 
Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 None. 
 
 

Page 12

https://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=720&MId=13172&Ver=4


Cabinet 

 

 
 

30 November 2022 

Report of:  
Ann Sutcliffe – Corporate Director of Place 
Kevin Bartle – Interim Corporate Director of Resources 
 

Classification: 
Unrestricted  

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme 2022-23 to 2024-25: 
Latest position 

 

Lead Member Councillor Kabir Ahmed, Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration, Inclusive Development and 
Housebuilding 

Originating Officer(s) Jane Abraham, Interim Capital Programme Manager 
(Housing) 

Wards affected All wards  

Key Decision? Yes 

Forward Plan Notice 
Published 

September 2022 

Reason for Key Decision To revise the budget for the housing capital 
programme incurring expenditure in excess of 
£1,000,000. 

Strategic Plan Priority / 
Outcome 

2. Providing homes for the future 
 
 

 
  

Page 13



Executive Summary 

 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme budget of £411.927m for 
2022-23 to 2024-25 was approved by Full Council in March 2022, as part of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2022-23 to 2024-25. The budget 
is made up of £323.219m for the delivery of the new homes programme and 
£88.709m to Tower Hamlets Homes (THH) for capital works.   
 
The budget was revised and approved by Cabinet in July 2022, based on the 
provisional out-turn figures for 2021/22 including net slippage, to £425.700m, with 
£335.500m for the new homes programme and £90.200m for THH capital works.  
 
A review of the Approved HRA Capital Programme has taken place under the new 
administration to ensure that the manifesto pledges and priorities set out in the 2022-
26 Strategic Plan are reflected, in particular the Mayor’s commitment to tackling 
overcrowding by increasing the number of family sized homes being delivered.  
 
In June 2021 and March 2022, scheme-specific budgets were approved for the 
proposed developments which make up the existing capital programme for new 
homes. To make funding available for new schemes which are ready to progress and 
will provide more family-sized homes, some schemes in the approved programme will 
be substituted. This aligns with the programme-wide approach that enables individual 
schemes to be brought forward and moved back if issues that impact delivery arise to 
ensure the pace of delivery is maintained. 
 
In parallel with the programme review, an update of the 30-year HRA Business Plan 
is being carried out to establish the budget envelope for next year’s programme.  
 
Where the ambition of the proposed capital programme exceeds the funding available 
at this time, alternative delivery options are being explored to maximise the delivery 
of new council homes in the borough.   
 
The report sets out the detail of the revised 2022/25 HRA Capital Programme and 
how this will be funded, for approval.  
 

 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Mayor in Cabinet is recommended to:  
 

1. Approve the budget allocations for new schemes being added to the 
programme as substitutes for previously approved schemes which are being 
removed, subject to sign off through the capital governance process and 
agreement to proceed given by the Corporate Director of Place in 
consultation with the Mayor and the Corporate Director of Resources. 
 

2. Approve the addition of Buckhurst Street, Smithy Street, Candy Street, 
housing on the St Georges Leisure Centre site, the purchase of 9 completed 
homes at Royal Mint Street, the conversion of Albert Jacob House to be 

Page 14



funded by the removal of the Ashington House scheme and unallocated grant 
and s106, subject to sign off through the capital governance process and 
agreement to proceed given by the Corporate Director of Place in 
consultation with the Mayor and Corporate Director of Resources. 
 

3. Approve the removal of the housing companies from the capital programme. 
 

4. Approve the virement of £2.098m from the THH capital works budget of 
£90.200m for essential works at Watney Market car park 
 

5. Approve delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Place, in 
consultation with the Mayor and the Corporate Director of Resources, to 
substitute schemes within the Approved HRA Capital Programme. 
 

6. Note that schemes funded by future capital receipts (RTB receipts) and/or 
s106 contributions will not go ahead until such funds have been received by 
the Council. 
 

7. Approve delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Place in 
consultation with the Mayor and the Corporate Director of Resources for all 
activities required to deliver the approved capital programme, for example but 
not exclusively, go out to tender, appoint consultants and contractors in 
accordance with the Procurement Procedures, acquire land interests, 
appropriate land from the General Fund to the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) for the delivery of new council homes and other rights of appropriation, 
subject to approved budget. 
 

8. Note the Equalities Impact Assessment and specific equalities considerations 
as set out in Section 4. 

 
 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The 2022-25 HRA Capital Programme approved in March 2022 requires a 

review and refresh to reflect the priorities set out by the new administration in 
the 2022-26 Strategic Plan. The 30-year HRA Business Plan is being updated 
and the revised programme will need to be set within the affordability 
constraints of the refreshed HRA Business Plan.  
 
 

2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 The council is required to approve a capital programme that it can demonstrate 

it can fund. Funding sources are identified for all schemes listed in the latest 
position of the 2022-25 HRA Capital Programme as set out in this report. 
 

2.2 The alternative route would be to update on a scheme by scheme basis 
through the Quarterly Monitoring report prepared by Corporate Finance rather 
than reviewing the programme as a whole that can ensure the priorities in the 
Strategic Plan are addressed.  

Page 15



3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 BACKGROUND 

 
3.1.1 In March 2022, Full Council approved an HRA capital programme totalling 

£411.927m for 2022-23 to 2024-25, of which £323.219m for the delivery of the 
new homes programme and £88.709m to THH for capital works. The budget was 
revised and approved by Cabinet in July 2022, based on the provisional out-turn 
figures for 2021/22 including net slippage, to £425.700m, with £335.500m for the 
new homes programme and £90.200m for THH capital works. This includes the 
approved budget allocation for the first three years of the HAP Estate 
Regeneration scheme. 
 

3.1.2 Last year’s 30-year HRA Business Plan, carried out by Savills, demonstrated that 
the existing programme totalling £425.700m was affordable at that time. The 
HRA Business Plan is currently being updated to establish the budget available 
for next year’s housing capital programme for the period 2023 – 2026.  
 

3.1.3 The HRA capital programme is funded by a mixture of grant funding, capital 
receipts (including RTB receipts), s106 contributions and borrowing. The 
programme maximises the availability of external funding and RTB receipts, but 
the regulations associated with the use of these sources means that there is a 
need for borrowing to be used alongside. The revised HRA capital programme, 
within the approved total of £425.700m, will require £222.130m of borrowing, as 
previously approved and which last year’s 30-year HRA Business Plan, 
demonstrates can be afforded.  

 
3.1.4 The principles on which this capital report is based are that approved projects 

will not proceed until the identified funding source is received, or in the case of 
external grant, confirmed in writing; the council will not borrow more than it can 
afford to repay; and the total approved HRA capital programme will not exceed 
the total funding available and if new schemes are prioritised above those already 
in the programme, they will need to replace existing approved schemes. The 
programme-wide approach will enable individual projects to be brought forward 
and moved back as issues that impact on delivery arise, to maintain delivery 
outcomes. 
 

3.1.5 In order to successfully deliver a substantial capital programme, it is essential to 
have effective governance, project monitoring, financial management and staff 
resources in place to ensure that quality outcomes are delivered on time and 
value for money is demonstrated. 
 

3.1.6 The substitutions within the revised 2022-25 HRA capital programme proposed 
in this report are shown in paragraph 3.4.15 Table 2. 

 
 
3.2 CONTEXT  
 
3.2.1 The newly approved 2022-26 Strategic Plan sets a clear direction for the council 

and is the main business planning document. It sets out the strategic priorities 

Page 16



and objectives, the high level activities which will be undertaken to deliver the 
outcomes and the measures that will help determine whether the outcomes have 
been achieved.  

 
3.2.2 Priority 2 is “Homes for the future” and sets out the actions required to meet the 

ambition of the new administration that “everyone in Tower Hamlets lives in a 
good quality home that they can afford”. Recognising that the housing crisis being 
one of the greatest challenges facing London today, with a fast growing 
population, an acute shortage of social homes and many residents living in 
overcrowded conditions, the council will work alongside residents, housing 
providers and landlords in finding solutions to achieve change.  

 
3.2.3 The new homes programme will contribute towards addressing these priorities 

by:  
 

 Prioritising schemes which provide the opportunity to deliver the greatest 
number of new homes  

 Maximising the number of larger family-sized homes within every scheme  

 Making best use of land in the council’s ownership to increase the supply of 
new homes for social rent  

 Exploring opportunities for alternative delivery options to increase delivery 
through partnership approaches  

  
3.2.4 There are a number of other ways in which the council will be seeking to tackle 

overcrowding, which will form part of a future housing strategy, including:  
 

 Reviewing potential for an extensions/knock-through programme, initially 
allocating £0.500m for 10 properties 

 Identifying new ways to help reduce under-occupation 

 Considering the purchase of completed homes delivered through s106 
agreements with developers, such as Royal Mint Street 

 Reviewing the buy-back programme, for which there is currently an 
approved budget of £11.917m in the General Fund for the three year period 
from 2022-25 

 Reducing the number of long-term void properties 
  
3.2.5 In addition to the direct delivery of new council homes, housing associations 

operating the borough also deliver much-needed affordable homes.   
 
 
3.3 FUNDING 
 
3.3.1 The HRA capital programme is funded by a mixture of grant funding, capital 

receipts (including RTB receipts), s106 contributions and prudent borrowing. The 
programme maximises the availability of external funding and RTB receipts, but 
the regulations associated with the use of these sources means that there is a 
need for borrowing to be used alongside.  

 
3.3.2 The council was allocated grant funding as part of the 2021/26 GLA grant 

programme. Since the grant was offered there have been a number of 
adjustments made within the programme to reflect the change in funding 

Page 17



approach to the HAP Estate Regeneration (to be funded by RTB receipts, as 
approved by Cabinet in December 2021). A total of £23.970m remains available 
for re-allocation. To maximise the use of external GLA grant for the new homes 
programme, this grant of £170,000 per unit has been allocated when it can be to 
the new additions to the programme ahead of RTB receipts.     

 
3.3.3 Right-to-buy (RTB) receipts are either directly held by the council or held by the 

GLA. Where directly held RTB receipts are used, these can contribute 40% of 
the total scheme budget alongside s106 contributions and/or borrowing. For GLA 
ring-fenced RTB receipts, only 30% of a total scheme budget can come from this 
source, with the remainder from s106 contributions and/or borrowing. The 
removal of the approved budget allocation for the community benefit society 
(Mulberry Housing Society) has released £9.000m of directly held RTB receipts 
for allocation to the HRA capital programme.   

 
3.3.4 The council currently holds £21.043m of s106 for the provision of affordable 

housing, of which £13.938m is allocated to the HAP Estate Regeneration and 
£0.352m to recently completed schemes. There remains £6.753m of s106 which 
is allocated to the HRA capital programme in this report.  

 
3.3.5 The prudent borrowing capacity is established by the 30-year HRA Business 

Plan. The business plan takes into account the projected income from the 
housing stock, meaning that annual rent increases will impact directly on the 
capacity available for the delivery of new homes. The 2022-25 HRA capital 
programme requires £222.130m of borrowing.   

 
 
3.4 REVISED 2022-25 HRA HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

 
3.4.1 The currently approved 2022-25 HRA capital programme totals £425.700m, of 

which £335.200m is for the new homes programme and £90.200m is for THH 
capital works, based on the 30-year HRA Business Plan produced in 2021.  

 
Capital works to existing council homes 
 

3.4.2 The priorities for THH housing capital expenditure for the next three years are to 
maintain and improve the existing council stock, continue retrospective works to 
address fire safety and building safety and, subject to the availability of funding, 
carry out energy efficiency works.  

 
3.4.3 Essential works, expected to cost £2.098m, required to Watney Market car park 

to ensure the safety of the residents living in the flats above are being funded as 
part of the £90.200m THH capital works programme for the next three years, 
approval for which is sought in this report.   

 
New council homes programme 
 

3.4.4 In the reports to Cabinet in June 2021 and Full Council in March 2022, scheme-
specific budgets were approved for the proposed developments which make up 

Page 18



the existing 2022-25 HRA capital programme for new homes totalling £335.500m 
for the next three years.  

 
3.4.5 To make funding available within the currently approved budget envelope for 

other schemes, this report proposes the removal of £9.000m (funded by RTB 
receipts) budget allocation for the community benefit society and the Ashington 
House scheme with a total approved budget allocation of £31.603m (£12.604m 
RTB receipts; £18.999m borrowing). The Ashington House scheme has 
progressed more slowly than anticipated and no longer requires a capital 
allocation. In addition, there is £6.753m from s106 contributions available for 
allocation.  

 
3.4.6 All new build schemes that are on site or where contractors have been appointed 

remain in the revised programme. As a result of inflation and other market 
conditions, there are expected to be some increases to project budgets to cover 
total scheme costs and ensure schemes can be delivered as planned. Approval 
for these will be sought on a scheme by scheme basis once exact costs are 
known, subject to funding availability.    

 
3.4.7 The new additions to the programme require funding of £44.200m, which is being 

made available, within the existing budget envelope, by the removal of the 
Ashington House scheme. The new additions include two schemes with planning 
consent for a total of 4 bedroom homes at Buckhurst Street and Smithy Street, 
the purchase of 9 completed family-sized homes at Royal Mint Street, the 
delivery of as many modular homes at Candy Street as possible subject to 
planning, funding for in the region of 27 new homes on the St George’s Leisure 
Centre site and for the refurbishment and conversion of Albert Jacob House. 

 
3.4.8 Schemes that have yet to achieve planning consent or are in the early design 

stages are being reviewed, to ensure that best use is made of land in the council’s 
ownership and the number of larger family-sized homes is increased. Budget 
allocations for these schemes remain in the programme but are likely to need 
amending when the final designs have been approved.  

 
3.4.9 Future additions will be made to the programme to increase the supply of new 

council homes, including the development of John Onslow House, subject to 
funding availability, following the HRA Business Plan Review.   

 
3.4.10 Alternative delivery options are being explored to enable the delivery of mixed 

tenure schemes through partnership approaches at Commercial Road (car 
pound) and other schemes in the pipeline programme. The ambition for the HRA 
Capital Programme currently exceeds the funding available. The HRA Business 
Plan review will establish the revised budget envelope for 2023-26.  

 
3.4.11 All schemes in the revised 2022-25 HRA capital programme set out in this report 

have funding identified and allocated, confirming that the programme can be 
afforded, based on last year’s business plan. Beyond the approved schemes, 
initial feasibility works continues to be carried out on potential schemes, funded 
by HRA revenue, to create a future pipeline to be brought forward when funding 
becomes available.  

Page 19



 
3.4.12 A programme-wide approach will continue to be taken, to enable individual 

schemes to be brought forward from the pipeline programme or moved back from 
the approved programme if issues that impact delivery arise, ensuring the 
provision of new homes is maintained. This report seeks delegated authority for 
the substitution of schemes to be approved by the Corporate Director of Place in 
consultation with the Corporate Director of Resources and the Mayor, to ensure 
delivery can continue at pace.  

 
3.4.13 If the update of the 30-year HRA Business Plan reduces funding capacity, other 

schemes may need to be removed from next year’s programme.  
 
3.4.14 The funding available for allocation to new schemes, as a result of scheme 

removals and unallocated grant and s106, is shown in Table 1 below: 
 
 Table 1 

 GLA 
£m 

RTB 
receipts 

£m 

s106 
£m 

Borrowing 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Ashington - 12.604 - 18.999 31.603 

CBS - 9.000 -  9.000 

Unallocated 
grant 

23.970 - - - 23.970 

Available s106 - - 6.753 - 6.753 

Total 23.970 21.604 6.753 18.999 71.326 

 
3.4.15 The proposed budget allocations are shown in Table 2 below. To add any further 

schemes to the programme, additional borrowing capacity, which is not available, 
would be required.  

 
 Table 2 

 GLA 
£m 

RTB 
receipts 

£m 

s106 
£m 

Borrowing 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Buckhurst Street 1.020 - - 1.480 2.500 

Smithy Street 0.680 - - 1.320 2.000 

88 Royal Mint 
Street 

- 1.800 - 2.700 4.500 

Candy Street 4.080 - - 4.920 9.000 

St George’s 
Leisure Centre 
site – housing  

- 6.400 6.753 2.847 
16.000 

Albert Jacob 
House 

4.760 - - 5.440 10.200 

Total 10.540 8.200 6.753 18.707 44.200 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



4 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council, in the exercise of its functions to 
have due regard to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between 
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.   

 
4.2 With the diversity and rapid growth of the borough, ensuring equality is 

embedded throughout Council plans, services and activities is a key priority and 
at the heart of all decision making.  To help meet its duty under the Equality Act 
the Council undertakes equality impact assessments to analyse a proposed 
change to assess whether it has a disproportionate impact on persons who share 
a protected characteristic.  

 
4.3 As part of the process of establishing a housing capital programme, an equality 

impact assessment checklist is carried out on all new proposals and schemes to 
determine if a full equality impact assessment needs to be carried out. Full 
equality impact assessments are carried out for each new build scheme as part 
of the governance process. This process prevents any proposal which amounts 
to discrimination from being implemented and any project which is likely to lead 
to a differential impact is varied to mitigate the differential impact.   

 
4.4 It is intended that the housing capital programme, as a whole, reduces inequality, 

fosters cohesion and has a positive impact for residents and organisations in the 
borough. 

 
  
5 OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the council is under a legal 

duty when exercising its various duties to have due regard to the likely effect of 
the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can 
to prevent crime and disorder in its area, including anti-social behaviour 
adversely affecting the local environment and quality of life of residents; the 
misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances and re-offending. It is anticipated 
that a number of the capital schemes proposed will have beneficial 
consequences for crime and disorder in the borough through providing new and 
improved homes, enhancing the public realm and improving life chances for 
children and young people.   

 
5.2 Any safeguarding implications of individual proposals in the budget are set out in 

the papers relating to those proposals. 
 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 This report recommends that MAB approve the budget allocations for new 

schemes being added to the programme as substitutes for previously approved 
schemes which are being removed. 

 

Page 21



6.2 To make funding available within the currently approved budget envelope for 
other schemes, this report proposes the removal of £9.000m (funded by RTB 
receipts) budget allocation for the community benefit society and the Ashington 
House scheme with a total approved budget allocation of £31.603m (£12.604m 
RTB receipts; £18.999m borrowing). In addition, there is £6.753m from s106 
contributions and £23.970 of GLA grant available for allocation. This would result 
in total funding of £71.326m being made available, detailed further in Table 1, for 
re-allocation whilst maintaining the overall budget envelope from last year’s 30-
year HRA Business Plan, carried out by Savills, which demonstrated that the 
existing programme was affordable at the time.  

 
6.3 The proposed new additions to the programme would utilise £44.200m, which is 

detailed further in Table 2 including a breakdown of funding sources, of the total 
funding of £71.326m proposed to be made available. This would leave £27.126m 
of funding available (£13.430m of GLA grants, £13.404m of RTB receipts and 
£0.292m of borrowing) which will be reviewed in light of the update of the 30-year 
HRA Business Plan being carried out to establish the budget envelope for the 
2023-26 HRA capital budget. 

  
6.4 As part of the proposals, it is recommended to remove the Ashington House 

scheme from the HRA capital programme. If the scheme is approved for removal,  
the spend to date of £627k relating to the scheme will need to be expensed to 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revenue and contained within revenue budgets 
as no tangible asset has materialised. Further, the report also proposes the 
allocation of £10.540m of Greater London Authority (GLA) grant monies to 
individual housing schemes, this is subject to approval from the GLA. 

 
6.5 The report also looks approval for the Essential works, expected to cost £2.098m, 

required to Watney Market car park to ensure the safety of the residents living in 
the flats above. This will be funded by reducing the existing £90.200m THH 
capital works programme for the next three years by an equivalent amount, 
releasing £2.098m of HRA revenue funding to finance the expected costs, 
resulting in a net nil impact on the overall existing HRA capital programme. 

 
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES 

7.1 The Council is required by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs.  The 
Council’s chief finance officer has established financial procedures to ensure the 
Council’s proper financial administration. These include procedures for 
budgetary control and the expenditure of different funding streams.  It is 
consistent with these arrangements for Cabinet to receive information and 
requests relating to the allocation of funding.  

7.2 The allocations of the various funding streams referred to in this report are in line 
with the various legal frameworks which relate to each funding stream. 

7.3 Where reference is made to the allocation of S.106 funds in the Appendix, such 
allocation will occur (or has occurred as the case may be) in line with the 

Page 22



Council’s application procedure and in any event the money will be applied to 
schemes which conform to the conditions imposed by the relevant S.106 
agreement. 

7.4 Recommendation 3 refers to a delegation to the Corporate Director to commit the 
Council to expenditure of the various sources of funds. Any such commitment will 
be subject to the Council running an appropriate level of procurement exercise 
having regard to the Council’s constitution and the relevant legislation such as 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

7.5 The winning bidder for each exercise will be chosen against pre-published 
evaluation criteria which will represent an appropriate blend of price and quality 
with respect to the subject matter of each procurement. The award to the best 
scoring bidder on this basis will not only comply with the relevant procurement 
law and the Council’s constitution but will also assist the demonstration of the 
Council’s compliance with its Best Value Duty. 

 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Appendices 

 None   
 

Linked Report 

 None  
 
Background Documents – Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Access 
to Information)(England) Regulations 2012 

 None 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Rupert Brandon, Head of Housing Supply 
Roselyn Unegbu, Interim Head of Capital Delivery 
 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST AND OTHER INTERESTS
	3.1 Call in of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 2022 - 25 Capital Programme: Latest position
	2022-25 HRA Capital Programme Refresh v3 with appendix Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme Refresh 2022-23 to 2024-25


